I. INTRODUCTION 

The trial court committed fundamental errors which, if uncorrected, 

undermine decades of established precedent, including the strong public 

policy in favor of settlement of disputes. 

The court invalidated a settlement agreement between the 

Washington State Nurses Association ("WSNA") and King County Public 

Hospital District No. 2 d/b/a Evergreen Hospital Medical Center 

("Evergreen" or "District") arising from a separate lawsuit because it 

determined there was a defense to the WSNA claim. The court ignored 

basic contract principles that apply to settlements of disputes. If the 

presence of a meritorious defense establishes a basis to later set aside a 

settlement, no settlement is secure. The court then proceeded to invalidate 

1,157 other settlement agreements because those agreements adopted the 

terms of the WSNA settlement. The trial court invalidated the settlements 

at the request of one nurse, Ms. Bautista, who settled, but thought other 

nurses got too much, while she got too little, when settling potential 

claims. The trial court should neither have permitted Ms. Bautista to 

repudiate her agreement, nor invalidate agreements entered into by others. 

Instead, it should have enforced her agreement and granted summary 

judgment to the District. 
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The trial court committed fundamental errors in granting class 

certification, ignoring both binding precedent and the specific facts 

presented. Its adoption of a mere pleading standard for class certification 

represents a stark departure from the requirements of CR 23. The 

evidence before it clearly established that essential prerequisites to class 

certification are absent from this case. There is no common answer to 

Plaintiffs' assertion that they missed rest or meal breaks. CR 23 does not 

exist to permit plaintiffs to combine similar causes of action with 

materially different facts. Mr. Bowman's and Ms. Pugh's experience as 

emergency nurses is not common, either to other Emergency Department 

nurses or to nurses in other medical departments. Neither they nor Ms. 

Bautista represents the District's other registered nurses ("RNs"), who 

have implicitly rejected class participation by settling individually. Ms. 

Pugh and Mr. Bowman may pursue and attempt to prove their individual 

rest and meal break cases and Ms. Bautista her meal break case, but the 

court should have denied class certification. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

A. The trial court erred by granting plaintiffs' motion for partial 
summary judgment and denying Evergreen's motion for partial 
summary judgment by order entered on March 14,2012. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error: 

1. Do the provisions of CR 23( e) requiring court approval of class 

action settlements extend to settlements of non-class litigation? 

2. Does a potential dispute over WSNA's standing preclude 

private settlement of its claims? 

3. Did the trial court have authority to invalidate a settlement 

between the hospital and WSNA, despite WSNA's capacity to enter into 

the agreement as the exclusive bargaining representative of the RNs? 

4. May putative class representative Bautista, who settled all her 

claims regarding missed breaks (despite dissatisfaction over the settlement 

because other RNs who had missed no breaks also received settlement 

checks from the District) and was not misled by the settlement and release 

she signed, commence an action for class claims because she now believes 

she might get more money? 

5. Should the trial court have invalidated the individual 

settlements and releases entered into by over 1,100 RN s, particularly 

without any request from those RNs to do so? 
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B. The trial court erred by granting plaintiffs' motion for class 
certification by order entered on March 14, 2012; it should have 
entered an order denying class certification. 

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error: 

1. Did the trial court's certification of a class based on mere 

allegations satisfy the rigorous analysis required by CR 23 to assure that 

all prerequisites of the rule have been satisfied? 

2. Where the undisputed evidence showed significant differences in 

the nature of the medical practices in the District's 26 departments and in the 

experience of individual RNs within departments regarding whether or how 

often they "missed" rest and meal breaks, and substantial independence of 

managers in implementing the District's policy that RNs were to get breaks, 

did the plaintiffs meet their burden to show that a class proceeding would 

generate a "common answer" to the claims of missed breaks, or does the 

record demonstrate that class proceedings are inappropriate? 

3. Will common facts regarding missed break claims predominate 

where some RNs worked entirely off-site with full control over the timing of 

their breaks; RNs in some, but not all, departments shared duties with non-

nursing health professionals; some departments never or rarely had 

unanticipated patients while others like the Emergency Department had large 

unscheduled patient loads; and the plaintiffs' own testimony about missed 

breaks in the Emergency Department was that "day shift" RNs almost always 

got their breaks? 
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4. Did the trial court err in certifying the class for alleged missed 

meal breaks where the evidence demonstrated that at least some of the 

putative class members waived an uninterrupted meal break, triggering the 

need for individualized fact-finding on liability? 

5. Are three former employees, two from one department, 

adequate class representatives for current hospital employees, most of 

whom have already implicitly rejected the course of action the three have 

taken? 

6. Did the plaintiffs demonstrate compliance with all CR 23 

prerequisites for the "settlement" subclass? 

7. Does the trial court's class definition as "[a]ll registered nurses 

... who ... were denied rest and/or meal breaks" require the court to 

determine liability to individual RNs before class membership is known? 

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

King County Public Hospital District No.2 operates the 275-bed 

Evergreen Hospital Medical Center as the cornerstone of its services to 

residents of King and south Snohomish counties. Its services include 

medical groups, home care, hospice, and many community health 

programs, including six satellite clinics. The hospital includes 26 

separate, independently-managed medical departments, whose operations 

are as varied as the medical services performed. The procedures each 
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department uses to enable RNs to take meal and rest breaks vary 

significantly, depending on the nature of medical care provided, the size of 

the nursing staff, and the overlap of RNs' duties with other medical 

professionals. 

This easel is the second of two lawsuits against the District seeking 

unpaid wages to RNs regarding alleged missed rest breaks. The first 

lawsuit was filed by Washington State Nurses Association ("WSNA"), the 

exclusive bargaining unit for RNs at Evergreen ("the WSNA lawsuit")? 

This suit was brought by two former Emergency Department ("ED") RNs, 

Debra Pugh and Aaron Bowman, who additionally sought unpaid wages 

for alleged missed or interrupted meal breaks. 

WSNA settled its claims through a settlement agreement dated 

February 10, 2011 ("Settlement Agreement"). CP 831-38. During 

negotiations with WSNA, District representatives internally estimated 

possible financial exposure of up to $600,000. The estimate was based, in 

part, on resolutions of other lawsuits brought by WSNA against hospitals 

over allegations of missed breaks. CP 50, 209-210. The amount made 

available to settle the RNs' individual claims was $375,000, less than the 

District's estimated, potential maximum exposure. After the WSNA 

I King County Superior Court No. 10-2-33125-5 SEA, filed Sept. 17,2010. 

2 Wash. State Nurses Ass 'n v. King Cty. Pub. Hasp. Dist. No. 2 d/b/a Evergreen Hasp. 
Med Ctr., King County Superior Court No. 10-2-32896-3 SEA, filed Sept. 15,2010. 
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lawsuit was settled and WSNA dismissed its suit under CR 41, Plaintiffs 

inquired into the District's settlement strategy during a deposition, and 

discovered the amount of the possible exposure. CP 195,209, 1139-49.3 

WSNA kept its members updated on its litigation and the settlement, 

and held an information session to answer questions about the settlement. 

CP 57-65, 69-82, 86-89, 891-92. At that meeting, WSNA distributed a 

"Settlement Information" sheet, detailing the settlement and emphasizing 

in bold print: "However, you may refuse the settlement money that 

Evergreen will offer you and press your own claim for back wages." 

CP 59-60, 82. Ms. Pugh attended the meeting, distributing a handout 

critical of the Settlement and advising of her lawsuit. CP 60, 84. 

WSNA sent a letter to each RN, again describing the settlement and 

then stating: 

In the next few days, you will receive a letter from Evergreen, 
along with a check for your portion of the settlement. ... 

You have the option of participating in this settlement, or 
choosing not to participate in this settlement. If you choose to 
participate, you must accept the check that Evergreen will send 
you and release your right to sue Evergreen for failure to provide 
you with rest breaks. If you want to pursue your own lawsuit, or 
be a participant in another lawsuit against Evergreen for 
backpay, you must return the check to Evergreen .... 

3 Plaintiffs sought to intervene in the WSNA lawsuit, but their motion was rendered moot 
by the dismissal. Plaintiffs appealed WSNA's dismissal in No. 66857-9-1. The briefmg 
was completed and argument scheduled, but after the trial court in this case ruled in their 
favor, Plaintiffs moved to dismiss their appeal. 
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CP 60, 89. 

The Settlement Agreement provided that the District would prepare 

checks and releases for individual RNs, who could decide whether or not 

to settle individual claims for missed breaks. CP 834. The District 

notified all 1,253 RNs, when submitting its settlement proposal to them, of 

the existence of this lawsuit. CP 115, 127-28, 1294-95. 

Plaintiffs also communicated with the RNS,4 urging them to reject 

the District's proposed settlement and to join Plaintiffs' case instead. 

Plaintiffs sought to "enjoin Evergreen from attempting to [pay the putative 

class members] in exchange for a release that would bar their participation 

in this action or undermine this class action." CP 7 (emphasis in original). 

The trial court denied their motion. CP 93-91. Counsel for Plaintiffs then 

sent a letter to the RN s, asserting that his firm could recover more for 

them and explicitly warning that "[y]ou cannot cash [the settlement] check 

and be a part of the class action lawsuit over missed rest breaks" and "[i]f 

you want to be a member of the rest break class action, you should return 

the check back to Evergreen." CP 107-08, 112-l3. 

The District and 1,157 RNs settled the RNs' individual claims for 

missed rest breaks. CP 1295. Each settling RN executed a release of "all 

4 The communications included an e-mail from Ms. Pugh using the District's internal 
email system, describing her lawsuit, providing the contact information for Plaintiffs ' 
counsel and soliciting RNs to contact counsel. CP 21-28, 67. Ms. Bautista remembered 
the e-mail clearly and agreed with its sentiment. CP 1116-18. 
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claims" related to missed rest breaks and received a check. CP 1151. Of 

the 1,253 RNs who received settlement checks, only 19 affirmatively 

rejected the District's rest break settlement (one of whom later released 

her claims). CP 1295, 1329. 

Similarly, the District settled claims for missed meal breaks. RNs 

reported hours worked through a software program, LaborWorkx, which 

allowed RN s to record missed meal breaks. CP 119. Under the District's 

time and attendance policy, employees are . prohibited from "[r]eporting 

missing meals when they are not missed" and "[ c ] locking in early or 

clocking out late for the purpose of accruing incidental overtime." CP 

119, 168-69. Managers review electronic timecards, and in limited 

circumstances, did not approve payment for some recorded missed meal 

periods. CP 120.5 After this lawsuit was filed, Evergreen compiled a list 

ofRNs who recorded missed meal breaks but were not paid. Despite good 

reasons for denying payment on particular occasions, the District decided 

to pay those RNs and sent settlement checks to each RN on the list, 

regardless of the reason for the managerial override. CP 120. Each check 

contained release and settlement language and was mailed with a letter 

describing this lawsuit and explaining the purpose of the check. CP 120, 

172. As of August 2011, 56 of the 69 checks had been endorsed and 

5 Other RNs who recorded missed meal breaks were paid. CP 851, 875, 879, 886, 923, 
928, 943, 955 , 1010-11 , 1015-16. 
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deposited or cashed. CP 120, 174-75. Only three RNs affirmatively 

refused to accept the meal break settlement checks - Ms. Pugh, Mr. 

Bowman, and Marisol Samphire, who later released her claims. CP 115, 

120, 166. 

One of the RN s who settled her rest break claim and executed a 

release was Floann Bautista. She settled her claim despite dissatisfaction 

both with the amount she was offered and because she knew of nurses 

who had never missed breaks but received money for settling potential 

claims. CP 1043-46, 1123, 1130. Plaintiffs amended their complaint to 

add Ms. Bautista as a putative representative of a sub-class, consisting of 

all RNs who had settled their individual claims. CP 97-105. Ms. Bautista 

challenged the validity of the WSNA settlement and the individual 

releases. Because the amended complaint directly challenged the validity 

of the individual RN settlements and the broader WSNA Settlement 

Agreement, Evergreen tendered defense of the settlements to WSNA 

under the indemnity provision of the Settlement Agreement. CP 182. 

WSNA then intervened. CP 176-88, 226-30. 

Plaintiffs asked the court to certify a class of: 

All registered nurses engaged in patient care who have been 
employed by Evergreen Hospital Medical Center in King 
County, Washington and who, at any time between September 
17,2007 and the present, were denied rest and/or meal breaks 
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and a sub-class of: 

All members of the Class who received and cashed a check 
purporting to waive and resolve their rest break claims with 
Evergreen. 

CP 312. 

The District presented undisputed evidence of its uniform policy that 

RNs are to receive meal and rest breaks, and the wide variations among its 

26 departments in the details of meal and rest break implementation. CP 

115-18, 904-73, 1009-17, 1053-58. The District presented unrebutted 

evidence of the unique nature of nursing practice in the ED with its 

completely unscheduled patients, where two of the three putative class 

representatives worked. CP 118, 958-62. Even within the ED, Ms. Pugh 

testified that "[d]ay shift pretty much always gets their breaks." CP 1035. 

The District also presented detailed declarations describing differences 

among the medical departments that have a direct impact on whether an 

RN might miss a break. 

Home health RNs work almost entirely away from the District's 

facilities and have full control over the timing of their breaks. CP 971. 

They do not "punch the clock." CP 972. Many of the District's medical 

departments are highly scheduled, unlike the ED. The Cardiovascular 

Health and Wellness Center ("CWC") has no unscheduled patients. CP 

905. Its RNs have offices where they may eat and drink because the 
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offices are not "treatment areas." CP 906. The duties of RNs in the CWC 

overlap with other health care professionals; for example, an RN may get 

break relief not only from other RNs, but also from exercise physiologists 

in that department. CP 905-06. Radiation Oncology is another outpatient 

clinical service at the hospital's main campus whose medical practice is 

entirely divorced from the experiences alleged by Plaintiffs. Radiation 

Oncology is open from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m., Monday through Friday. Nearly 

all its work is scheduled. It typically does not schedule patient visits 

during the noon hour that require an RN to be present. RNs take their 

morning and afternoon breaks in between scheduled patient appointments. 

CP 955. 

Some departments use a "buddy" system to help ensure that RNs get 

their breaks. "Buddies" spell each other, providing a specifically 

identified relief nurse. CP 941 . The Family Maternity Center has used the 

"buddy system" because labor and delivery nurses can perform the duties 

of post-partum nurses, but the reverse is not so. CP 941-42. Other 

departments, with different medical practices, use a departmental team 

approach where all RNs are active in ensuring that anyone needing a break 

gets it. CP 922, 936, 1010. The ED uses a "team" approach, but Mr. 

Bowman and Ms. Pugh did not cooperate, refusing to take breaks when 
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offered, and later complaining that they had been unable to get a break. 

CP 960-62. 

The ED is one of the largest departments in the hospital, with 54 

full-time or part-time RNs, and another 20 RNs in the per diem pool. Per 

diem RNs fill in on busy days or for last-minute sick calls. CP 960. The 

ED is staffed based on a projection of 150 patients a day. CP 960. If the 

census for the day is less than that, RNs are likely to have more flexibility 

in taking breaks. CP 960. How busy RNs are also depends on the severity 

of patients' conditions. A seriously ill or injured ("high acuity") patient 

may have a single RN dedicated to her care, whereas an RN may provide 

care to seven low acuity patients. CP 959-60. The overall nurse to patient 

ratio goal is 1:4 when scheduling RNs for a shift. CP 959. 

The ED treats the broadest range of ailments and injuries, and its 

patient load on any given shift is unpredictable. The ebb and flow of the 

ED means that when things are slow, RNs may attend to personal 

business, rest, surf the internet, or eat. Their breaks may be broken up on 

busy shifts. CP 118, 960. 

Plaintiffs introduced testimony from RNs in some departments,6 

stating that they had missed breaks. Plaintiffs' own witnesses related 

different experiences about whether they missed breaks, even within the 

6 Of the Plaintiffs' declarations involving clinic-based RNs, most were from four 
departments and all appear to be from Evergreen's main hospital campus. CP 1024. 
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same department. Compare CP 710 with CP 736; see also CP 250, 285, 

292-93. 

The District also presented testimony from RNs, some of whom 

worked with Plaintiffs' witnesses in the same department, indicating that 

those RN s had had no difficulty getting the breaks to which they were 

entitled. CP 940, 945. The District also presented testimony that one of 

Plaintiffs' witnesses regularly spent substantial time socializing or 

attending to personal matters during shifts, while claiming to have missed 

her breaks. CP 923. 

Plaintiffs moved for partial summary judgment to invalidate the 

WSNA Settlement Agreement, the individual releases and dismiss WSNA 

from the lawsuit. CP 414-37. The District cross-moved for summary 

judgment, presenting evidence that putative class representative Bautista 

knowingly released her rest break claims. CP 1113-37, 1151, 1266-93. 

On March 14, 2012, the trial court issued two orders granting 

Plaintiffs' motion for class certification, granting Plaintiffs' motion for 

partial summary judgment, and denying Evergreen's cross-motion for 

partial summary judgment. CP 1330-45. Evergreen filed its notice of 

discretionary appeal on March 23, 2012, CP 1346-66, and this Court 

granted discretionary review on August 1,2012. 
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IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Washington's strong public policy is to encourage private 

settlements of disputes. Here, the trial court ignored that public policy, 

foisting a CR 23( e) standard on a non-class action lawsuit, invalidating the 

settlement between the District and WSNA. It then invalidated 1,157 

separate settlements between the District and individual RNs at the request 

of a single RN who experienced buyer's remorse after knowingly 

releasing her claims. All settlements involve a compromise of claims and 

defenses, and the fact that the District paid the RNs less than its estimated 

potential maximum exposure does not render the individual settlements 

invalid. The court's ruling conflicts with established precedent and puts at 

risk all settlements of disputed claims. 

The trial court's class certification order also conflicts with binding 

precedent by adopting a mere pleading standard, rather than conducting a 

rigorous analysis to determine whether Plaintiffs met their burden of 

establishing all of the requirements of CR 23. The court ignored 

Plaintiffs' and the District's evidence of widely varying facts among its 26 

medical departments, which eliminates the possibility of common facts 

predominating and a common answer to the question of whether RNs were

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