68550-3

No. 68550-3-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIV. I

DEBRA PUGH and AARON BOWMAN, and FLOANN BAUTISTA on their own behalf and on behalf of all persons similarly situated,

Respondents

v.

EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER a/k/a KING COUNTY PUBLIC HOSPITAL, DISTRICT #2,

Appellants,

WASHINGTON STATE NURSES ASSOCIATION,

Appellant/Intervenor

King County Superior Court No. 10-2-33125-5 SEA The Honorable Harry J. McCarthy

RESPONDENTS' BRIEF ANSWERING BRIEF OF APPELLANT EVERGREEN HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER

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

Oda v. State, 111 Wn. App. 79; 44 P.3d 8 (2002) is similarly distinguishable. Oda is also a sex-discrimination case that depended on the employer's intent. There, the plaintiffs alleged discriminatory practices with regard to promotion and pay for all female employees of the University of Washington and tried to use superficial statistical evidence to prove the employer's intent school-wide. But as discussed above, the Nurses' wage and hour case does not depend on proof of the employer's intent. Also, the employer in Oda, like in Wal-Mart, had no centralized control over promotion decisions and denied a common practice of discriminatory decision-making. That is not the case here, where Evergreen has admitted that it has centralized control over documenting missed meal breaks and centrally controls the time and attendance system in all hospital departments. CP 590-591.

Finally, in Oda, Plaintiffs sought to rely solely on "slippery" and not particularly complex statistical evidence to establish a common practice of intentional discrimination without any anecdotal evidence of representative individual promotion or pay decisions. The Oda plaintiffs submitted no class member declarations to establish common practices and bring the "cold hard facts convincingly to life." Oda, 111 Wn. App. at 96. The court concluded that statistical evidence alone was insufficient to establish the employer's discriminatory motive when discretionary pay and performance decisions were made by faculty members in each department, and there was no evidence presented to show a common pattern of adverse treatment of women by the central administration. Oda, 111 Wn. App. at 101. That is not the case here, where Evergreen's policies and practices are the same hospital-wide, it has centralized control over those policies and practices, and "motive" is irrelevant. Oda does not show that the trial court abused its discretion in this case by concluding that commonality under CR 23(a)(2) exists.

2. Common Questions of Law and Fact Predominate.

CR 23(b)(3) requires that common questions of law and fact predominate over any questions affecting only individual members. In Sitton v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 Wn. App. 245, 254 – 256 (2003), the court explained the "predominance" requirement of CR 23(b)(3):

The predominance requirement is not a rigid test, but rather contemplates a review of many factors, the central question being whether "adjudication of the common issues in the particular suit has important and desirable advantages of judicial economy compared to all other issues, or when viewed by themselves." The predominance requirement is not a demand that common issues be dispositive, or even determinative; it is not a comparison of court time needed to adjudicate common issues versus individual issues; nor is it a balancing of the number of issues suitable for either common or individual treatment. Rather, "[a] single common issue may be the overriding one in the litigation, despite the fact that the suit also entails numerous remaining individual questions." The presence of individual issues may pose management problems for the judge, but as the chief commentator has observed, courts have a variety of procedural options to reduce the burden of resolving individual damage issues, including bifurcated trials, use of subclasses or masters, pilot or test cases with selected class members, or even class decertification after liability is determined.

<u>Id.</u> (internal citations omitted). In deciding whether common issues predominate over individual ones, the court is engaged in a "'pragmatic' inquiry into whether there is a 'common nucleus of operative facts' to each class member's claim." That class members may eventually have to make an individual showing of damages does not preclude class certification. <u>Id.</u> at 256.

Evergreen argues that the trial court abused its discretion in finding that individual issues will predominate because individual nurses may define "rest period" differently, so they may think they missed a break, when they really took an intermittent break. According to Evergreen, individualized inquiry would have to be made of all the nurses to determine if nurses took intermittent breaks or actually missed a break. AB at 33-34.

First, nurse testimony will not define "rest period" or "intermittent break" or "unremitting work"—those terms are defined under Washington law. The trial court will apply these terms to answer questions common to the class, such as whether the nature of nursing work allows for intermittent breaks¹⁵, and if so, whether short personal activities, such as "leaving the department to use the bathroom," "grab[bing] a granola bar" or "look[ing] up the weather on the internet", counts toward intermittent break time when nurses are not relieved of patient care and responsibility. CP 1028-1030.

Second, Evergreen's concerns are premature and speculative. If the trial court concludes that intermittent breaks are not permitted in nursing work under WAC 296-126-092, there will be no inquiry of nurses about intermittent rest breaks at all. If the court rules that intermittent breaks are allowed and individual participation is necessary to determine the number of missed rest breaks, the trial court has "a variety of procedural options to reduce the burden of resolving [them], including bifurcated trials, use of subclasses or masters, pilot or test cases with selected class members, or even class decertification after liability is determined." Sitton, 116 Wn, App. at 255.

¹⁵ WAC 296-126-092 states that intermittent breaks are permitted only where the "nature of the work allows it." In <u>WSNA v. Sacred Heart Medical Center</u>, SCSC No. 07-2-05766-2, a case WSNA brought on behalf of nurses against a different hospital, the trial court answered this legal question with respect to nurses and concluded that nursing work was of the type that did <u>not</u> allow intermittent breaks under WAC 296-126-092. Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment dated, August 20, 2010.

Finally, similar arguments regarding commonality and predominance were rejected in Pellino v. Brinks, 164 Wn.2d 668 (2011). Pellino involved a class of armored car drivers and messengers who alleged they were denied rest and meal breaks. In that case, class member testimony about breaks was similar to testimony here. Class members testified that when to take breaks varied by employee, they were able to take quick bathroom breaks, they occasionally purchased food while on route, and ate food while on the job. The court rejected Brinks' argument that because the decision of when to take breaks varied by employee 16 and there was no "uniform rule or policy on breaks," commonality and predominance were not met. Pellino, 164 Wn. App. at 683. As in Pellino, this Court should reject these arguments.

3. Named Plaintiffs Adequately Represent the Class.

The adequacy of representation requirement of CR 23(a)(4) is concerned with only two issues: (1) does the class representative have claims which conflict with those of the class; and (2) does the class have competent legal counsel to represent their claims. De Funis v. Odegaard, 84 Wn.2d 617, 622, 529 P.2d 438 (1974); Marquardt v. Fein, 25 Wn. App. 651, 656, 612 P.2d 378 (1980). Evergreen argues that the trial court

¹⁶ Evergreen similarly claims that because Home Health RNs—one of the 24 departments at Evergreen—control the timing of their breaks, individual issues will predominate. AB at 35. Besides simply claiming, "facts relating to their claims will not be the same as onsite RNs", it fails to elaborate how this "difference" will create individual issues that would predominate over the main overriding issues in the case: whether Evergreen fulfilled its obligation to ensure its employees take rest and meal breaks and whether Evergreen violated the MWA when it fails to pay for missed rest breaks and on-duty, interrupted, or late meal breaks. As in <u>Pellino</u>, this argument should be rejected.

abused its discretion in finding that Mr. Bowman, Ms. Pugh, and Ms. Bautista adequately represent the class because (1) they work in the Emergency Department, (2) they refused to take rest breaks when they were offered, and (3) they are former employees. AB at 35. This Court should reject these arguments.

First, the class representatives are "adequate" because their interest in full payment for all missed breaks does not conflict with any interest of any class member. All nurses have an interest in receiving compensation from Evergreen for missed breaks during the class period. The fact that Ms. Pugh and Mr. Bowman worked in the Emergency Department does not create a "conflict" with other members of the class. ¹⁷

Second, former employees are routinely approved as adequate class representatives in wage and hour class action cases. Glass v. UBS Financial Services, Inc., 2007 WL 221862 (N.D. Cal. 2007), affirmed 331 Fed. Appx. 452 (9th Cir. 2009)(concluding that class representatives in a wage and hour class action for damages were adequate representatives for current employees beyond the date of their employment). It has been widely recognized that former employees often make better class representatives than current ones because they have no fear of retaliation for their testimony and are more likely to push for a better result on behalf of the class. See e.g. Fujita v. Sumimoto Bank of California, 70 F.R.D.

¹⁷ Ms. Pugh and Mr. Bowman deny Evergreen's allegations that they refused timely and adequately staffed rest and meal breaks. In any event, even if it was true, Evergreen does not show that this creates a conflict with other class members or undermine other class member testimony that they were denied breaks.

406, 411 (N.D. Cal. 1975); Kouba v. Allstate Ins. Co., 1981 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 15703, Fn. 3 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 24, 1981). The reasoning is discussed in Wetzel v. Liberty Mut. Ins. Co., 508 F.2d 239, 247 (3d Cir. Pa. 1975). In that case, the court recognized that class representatives who were former employees of the company are often better situated because they are free from the coercive influence of the company. The court also recognized that if former employees were disqualified from representing a class of former and current employees, employers would be encouraged to discharge those employees suspected as most likely to initiate a [lawsuit . . . in the expectation that such employees would thereby be rendered incapable of bringing the suit as a class action." Id. at 247. This is particularly true here. Both Ms. Pugh and Mr. Bowman were Evergreen employees when they initiated this lawsuit, but after they filed this class action lawsuit, Evergreen fired them. In any event, both Ms. Pugh and Mr. Bowman have an interest in obtaining full compensation for missed rest and meal breaks during the class period, which does not conflict with the class' interests.

. 17

Equally, Ms. Bautista's interest in seeking full payment of all wages owed for missed breaks is congruent with the interest of all subclass members in full payment of wages owed. Any "conflict" alleged by Evergreen is hypothetical, ¹⁸ and hypothetical or potential conflicts are not sufficient to deny class certification. See Wilkinson v. F.B.I., 99 F.R.D.

¹⁸ Evergreen's contention that Ms. Bautista does not represent the interests of other nurses because they "already reject[ed] further litigation" (presumably by signing the "settlement" checks) is circular and nonsensical. It is also speculative. AB at 36.

148, 160 (CD. Cal.1983) ("A merely speculative possibility of inadequate representation is not a sufficient basis to find that Rule 23(a)(4) is not satisfied."); 5 James Wm. Moore et al., Moore's Federal Practice § 23.25[4][b][ii] (3d ed.1998) (stating that to find inadequacy of representation "most courts hold that the conflict must be more than merely speculative or hypothetical"). The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that CR 23(a)(4) is met.

4. The Class Definition Is Adequate.

Evergreen claims that the class definition adopted by the court is inadequate because it "predetermines liability." AB at 38. At this early stage in litigation, it was entirely proper for the court to assume that Plaintiff's allegations that all nurses who worked at Evergreen during the class period missed rest and meal breaks and were not compensated for them. See Smith v. Behr Process Corp., 113 Wn. App. 306, 320 n.4, 54 P.3d 665 (2002) (Where class certification is sought at the early stages of litigation, courts generally assume that the allegations in the pleadings are true.); See also Noble v. 93 Univ. Place Corp., 224 F.R.D. 330, 338, 341-342 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (stating that class members need not be ascertained prior to certification, but must be ascertainable at some point in the case, and noting that "certification is routinely granted where the proposed class definition relies in part on the consideration of defendants' alleged liability."); Forbush v. J.C. Penney Co., 994 F.2d 1101, 1105 (5th Cir. Tex. 1993) (holding that to not permit a class to be defined in terms of the legal claims brought "would preclude certification of just about any class

of persons alleging injury from a particular action.").

Furthermore, in this case, Evergreen provided the court with no evidence to dispute Plaintiffs' allegations that <u>all</u> nurses who worked at Evergreen missed rest and meal breaks to some extent, Evergreen failed to keep records as required by law as to these nurses, and Evergreen failed to pay these nurses for missed breaks. Under these circumstances, the class definition is adequate because it does not require the court to make any determination on the merits of the claim in order to identify the class, which based on the undisputed evidence consists of <u>all nurses employed</u> by Evergreen during the time period. It is also undisputed and clear from the evidence that Evergreen did not <u>ensure</u> that <u>any</u> of its nurse employees received rest breaks as required by <u>Pellino</u>.

Even if this Court concluded there is an error in the class definition, the proper remedy is to remand to the trial court to revise the definition. Sitton, 116 Wn. App. at 250 (Courts resolve close cases in favor of allowing or maintaining the class); James v. City of Dallas, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22706 (N.D. Tex. Nov. 22, 2002) (Revision of class definition by appellate court does not change the certifiability of the class when the requirements of CR 23 are met). Here, it could easily alleviate Evergreen's concerns with a broader definition:

All registered nurses engaged in patient care who have been employed by Evergreen Hospital medical Center in King County, Washington between September 17, 2007 and the present. As is very common in class actions cases, the court could craft narrower subclasses as discovery progresses if deemed appropriate and helpful in adjudicating the case.

B. Summary Judgment was Properly Granted.

In reviewing an order granting summary judgment, the appellate court engages in the same inquiry as the trial court. Young v. Key Pharms., Inc., 112 Wn.2d 216, 226, 770 P.2d 182 (1989). Summary judgment is properly granted when there is no genuine issue of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law. CR 56(c); Clements v. Travelers Indem. Co., 121 Wn.2d 243, 249, 850 P.2d 1298 (1993). The evidence and all reasonable inferences therefrom are to be considered in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party. Schaaf v. Highfield, 127 Wn.2d 17, 21, 896 P.2d 665 (1995). "All questions of law are reviewed de novo." Berger v. Sonneland, 144 Wn.2d 91, 103, 26 P.3d 257 (2001).

In this case, the trial court properly concluded that (1) WSNA lacked associational standing to sue for damages on behalf of its members, (2) the settlement agreement between WSNA and Evergreen required court approval, and (3) the "settlement checks" only made available to nurses as part of the settlement did not bar claims of nurses for full compensation owed for missed rest breaks in this class action. This Court should affirm and remand for trial.

1. WSNA Lacked Associational Standing to Sue for Damages on Behalf of its Members.

It is improper for a plaintiff lacking standing to assert the rights of other parties or nonparties. Haberman v. Wash. Pub. Power Supply Sys., 109 Wn.2d 107, 138, 744 P.2d 1032, 750 P.2d 254 (1987). The claims of a plaintiff determined to lack standing are not his or hers to assert and cannot be resolved in whole or in part on the merits. Ullery v. Fulleton, 162 Wn. App. 596, 604, 256 P.3d 406, 411 (2011). A party cannot settle claims that it does not possess. Lierboe v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 350 F.3d 1018 (9th Cir. 2003) (a plaintiff seeking to represent a class who lacks standing to bring the claim cannot seek relief on behalf of any member of the class.).

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